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Joel K. Dranove
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AZRACK, United States Magistrate Judge:

The Honorable Frederic Block, United States District Judge, referred the defendant’s entry

of a guilty plea pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. 11 (“Rule 11”) to me, and I conducted a plea hearing

on February 7, 2007.  The defendant was apprised of his rights, waived them, and entered a plea of

guilty to the single charge contained in the information:  that in March 2005 he knowingly and

intentionally transmitted in interstate commerce a threat to injure the person of an individual known

to the government (“John Doe”), in violation of 18 U.S.C. §875(c).  The defendant allocuted to his

commission of the crime, and the government was given an opportunity to proffer any additional
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 The facts are established by the July 5, 2007 complaint, the defendant’s allocution and1

evidence proffered by the government at the February 7, 2007 plea hearing, and the letters
submitted in relation to the plea hearing.  I note that several statements made by the defendant
between one and two years after the alleged crime are described in the complaint.  These
statements are immaterial here, since they were not part of the contemporaneous context of the
alleged crime and were not directed to John Doe.  They can be summarized as follows:  the
defendant is a self-avowed racist who generally hates blacks and whites; he published several
statements, in newspapers and online, after the date of the crime charged here, in which he
advocated Asians rising up against whites and blacks with violence and applauded violent events
he took to be racially motivated.  The government does not allege that any of these statements
were criminal, and the defendant does not contest that he made them.

2

evidence.  I determined that the defendant was fully aware of his rights and had knowingly and

voluntarily waived them in entering his plea.   I reserved decision, however, on the question of

whether there was an adequate factual basis for the plea under Rule 11(b)(3).  

The government briefed that issue in a letter dated February 14, 2008, which supplemented

a letter the government had submitted on February 6, 2008.  Defense counsel responded with a letter

dated March 20, 2008, and the government replied with a third letter, dated March 26, 2008.  After

carefully reviewing the record, the submissions of the parties, and the relevant law, I find that the

charged statement did not constitute a threat and that there is thus no factual basis to establish that

the defendant violated 18 U.S.C.  § 875(c).  I therefore respectfully recommend that the defendant’s

guilty plea be rejected.

I.  FACTUAL RECORD

According to the uncontested record,  the charges here stem from a statement the defendant1

made to John Doe over the phone following two earlier in-person altercations.

In 2003, the defendant was expelled from a film class at New York University (“NYU”) after

he encouraged his fellow students to tell a female African-American classmate (referred to as a

“Negro” by the defendant) that her work was bad.  John Doe was in the class at the time of this
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incident and joined the teacher and other students in telling the defendant that his comments were

inappropriate.  Ten months later, on July 27, 2004, the defendant entered a student film editing suite

at NYU where John Doe was editing his film.  The defendant spat on John Doe three times, called

him a “white pussy,” and, as the complaint puts it, told John Doe that he had “recently published an

essay advocating militant violence against whites to protect Asian rights.”  (Compl. at 4.)  At his

allocution, the defendant accused John Doe of lying to have him expelled from the film class.

(Transcript of February 7, 2008, Plea Allocution (“Transcript”) at 18.)  There was no physical

contact between the defendant and John Doe during the spitting altercation, which ended when NYU

security officers escorted John Doe from the building.  Three days later, on July 30, 2004, John Doe

learned that the defendant was in the building again and requested that security escort him out.  John

Doe passed the defendant on his way out, and the defendant called him “white boy.”  Following

these incidents, John Doe filed a complaint with NYU in which he stated that he feared for his life.

For the next eight months, the defendant and John Doe had no contact.  Then, on March

25, 2005, while John Doe was in Los Angeles, California, the defendant called his cellphone and

said words to the effect of, “Remember me?  I’m the guy who spit on you, white boy.”  

The defendant allocuted that, when he made this call, “based on my prior conduct with

him, and my prior contact with him, it was my intention to scare him into thinking I was going to

injure him.”  Transcript at 17.  John Doe immediately hung up his phone and did not answer

when the defendant called back several times in rapid succession.  John Doe felt threatened by

the defendant’s phone call, given the July 2004 spitting incident, the defendant’s statements

about violence against whites, and the fact that the defendant was still contacting him a year and

a half after the classroom incident that lead to the defendant’s expulsion.
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 In its February 14 letter, the government mistakenly asserts that there are only two2

elements of § 875(c):  “[(1)] the defendant intentionally transmitted a communication in
interstate commerce and [(2)] that the circumstances were such that an ordinary, reasonable

4

The defendant had no further contact with John Doe after the March 25, 2005 phone call. 

Almost two and a half years later, on August 10, 2007, he was arrested.

II.  DISCUSSION

1. Standard of review

Rule 11(b)(3) states, “Before entering judgment on a guilty plea, the court must determine

that there is a factual basis for the plea.”  This provision obligates the court to satisfy itself that the

conduct to which the defendant admits indeed constitutes the charged violation and to “protect a

defendant who is in the position of pleading voluntarily with an understanding of the nature of the

charge but without realizing that his conduct does not actually fall within the charge.”  Fed. R. Crim.

P. 11, Notes of Advisory Committee on Rules; see also McCarthy v. United States, 394 U.S. 459,

467 (1969) (quoting advisory committee); United States v. Maher, 108 F.3d 1513, 1524 (2d Cir.

1997) (quoting McCarthy).  A factual basis exists when the court can match the facts on the record

with all of the elements of the crime.  United States v. Smith, 160 F.3d 117, 120 (2d Cir. 1998).

2. The element of 18 U.S.C. § 875(c) at issue:  true threat of physical injury

Section 875(c) of Title 18 of the United States Code states:  “Whoever transmits in interstate

or foreign commerce any communication containing any threat to kidnap any person or any threat

to injure the person of another, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than five years,

or both.”  The statute consists of four elements:  the making of a communication; a threat of physical

injury in the communication; transmission of the communication in interstate commerce; and general

intent applied to the other elements.2

Case 1:08-cr-00066-FB-JMA   Document 25   Filed 03/31/08   Page 4 of 11 PageID #: 143



recipient familiar with the context of the communication would interpret it as a threat of injury,”
quoting United States v. Francis, 164 F.3d 120, 123 (2d Cir. 1999).  In fact, the Second Circuit in
Francis was describing only the intent element; specifying it as general intent; and indicating that
it applies to both the interstate communication element and the threat element.  Id. (stating
immediately before the above quote that “there are no First Amendment concerns that require
departure from the principle that a statute that does not specify a mens rea level requires only
general intent,” and stating immediately afterward that “the government need not prove that a
defendant intended his communication to be threatening[.]”).

5

The record establishes that the defendant made a communication in the form of a telephone

call to John Doe, and that he placed the call in interstate commerce.  The defendant admits that he

intended to make the call and to make John Doe think that he would injure him.  The only element

of § 875(c) in question is whether the defendant’s communication contained a threat of physical

injury.  The Supreme Court and Second Circuit have held that a threat made purely through speech

is criminally punishable only where it is a “true” threat.  Virginia v. Black, 538 U.S. 343, 359 (2003);

Watts v. United States, 394 U.S. 705, 707-08 (1969); United States v. Kelner, 534 F.2d 1020, 1027

(2d Cir. 1976); United States v. Francis, 164 F.3d 120, 123 (2d Cir. 1999).

The question here, then, is whether the defendant’s March 25, 2005 statement—“Remember

me?  I’m the guy who spit on you, white boy”—constituted a true threat to injure John Doe’s person.

3. The charged statement does not contain a true threat of physical injury

A. The statement does not overtly threaten to injure the person of another

Statutory construction must begin with an analysis of the plain language of the statute itself.

United States v. Davila, 461 F.3d 298, 302 (2d Cir. 2006) (citation omitted).  The term “threat” is

not defined in § 875(c), so it is appropriate to look to its “ordinary, contemporary, common

meaning.”  Perrin v. United States, 444 U.S. 37, 42 (1979); see also In re Edelman, 295 F.3d 171,

177 (2d Cir. 2002).  The ordinary meaning of a threat is “a denunciation to a person of ill to befall
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him”; “an expression of an intention to inflict pain, injury, evil, or punishment”; or “an indication

of impending danger or harm.”  Davila, 461 F.3d at 302 (quoting the Oxford English Dictionary and

the American Heritage Dictionary).  See also United States v. Malik, 16 F.3d 45, 51 (2d Cir. 1994)

(“[A] statement expressing an intention to inflict bodily harm.”).  The Second Circuit has held that

mailing someone purported anthrax, creating an impression of present harm, falls within this

definition.  Davila, 461 F.3d at 302-03 (rejecting the argument that threats must refer to future

actions).

The defendant’s statement, on its face, is not an explicit threat under this definition.  The

statement refers to no current or future harm.  The only action mentioned in the statement is the

spitting incident, which occurred eight months prior—far in the past.  Fairly read, the reference to

the spitting incident serves the purpose of identifying the caller.  The phrase “white boy,” though

certainly derogatory and unpleasant, does not openly reference impending harm or injury.

The statute requires not only a threat, but a threat of injury to the person of another.  Even

if I were to find that the defendant’s statement was threatening because he referred to the spitting

incident in a menacing tone, reference to physical injury is missing.  The closest thing in the

statement is the reminder that the defendant spat on John Doe.  But spitting does not cause physical

injury.  See Hitchcock Plaza v. Clark, 1 Misc.3d 906(A) at *6 (N.Y.C. Civ. Ct. 2003) (holding that

spitting is not assault under New York law because it causes no physical injury).  On the face of the

defendant’s statement, one cannot tell what physical harm might occur, how it is to come to pass,

or who the intended victim is.  Since I cannot locate this information in the plain language of the

charged statement, I cannot find that the statement threatens an injury to the person of another.

The defendant’s vague statement contrasts sharply with the clear, violent statements at issue
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in reported Second Circuit threat cases.  In Francis, the defendant stated he would “blow the victim’s

head off, cut the victim up into a thousand tiny pieces, slit the victim’s throat, and kill the victim.”

164 F.3d at 121.  In United States v. Sovie, 122 F.3d 122 (2d Cir. 1997), the statements held to be

threats were, inter alia:  “You ain’t on that bus, I’m gonna kill you. Got it? One way or another.

You’re dead . . . . You get ready for a beatin’ of your fuckin’ life.”  Id. at 124.  The defendant in

Malik sent a letter to the court stating, in part, “unless this Court promptly intervene and insure these

cases being processed in this Court then What the Court is telling the Plaintiff in his eyes is to deal

with each of these defendants family and them physically upon his soon prison discharge than handle

things by legal rules and guidlines,” and “the Plaintiff per fer to handle things legally than for the

Court to push thoughts as physical personal revenge as a way to deal with the above defendants by

injuring them or family members.”  16 F.3d at 48 (spelling errors in original statements).  The

Second Circuit called even such explicit language “[a]rguably . . . ambiguous.”  Id. at 50.  In United

States v. Carrier, 672 F.2d 300 (2d Cir. 1982), the defendant stated,“I am a big game hunter and

have owned numerous rifles, shotguns, and a 32 . . . the only thing I’ll do is blow off the head of the

President of the United States.”  Id. at 302.  The defendant in Kelner held a press conference in

which he stated, “We have people who have been trained and who are out now and who intend to

make sure that Arafat and his lieutenants do not leave this country alive,” “We are planning to

assassinate Mr. Arafat,” “Everything is planned in detail,” and “It’s going to come off.”  534 F.2d

at 1021.  These examples highlight how vague and incomplete the defendant’s statement is in

comparison, convincing me that it contains no threat of physical injury under § 875(c).
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B. Even if the statement is a threat, it is does not meet the “true threat” threshold for
criminal sanctions

The Supreme Court has held that, in order for a threat comprised of pure speech to be

criminalized, it must be a “true threat.”  Black, 538 U.S. at 359.  True threats “encompass those

statements where the speaker means to communicate a serious expression of an intent to commit an

act of unlawful violence to a particular individual or group of individuals.”  Id. (upholding a statute

that banned cross-burning with the intent to intimidate).  Jokingly expressing a desire to shoot the

President at a political rally is “political hyperbole” protected by the First Amendment, not a true

threat.  Watts, 394 U.S. at 707-08 (construing sister statute § 876(c), which bans threats against the

President).  Apart from these rough guidelines, the Supreme Court has not more specifically defined

a true threat.  See Paul T. Crane, “True Threats” and the Issue of Intent, 92 Va. L. Rev. 1225, 1226

(2006); Andrew P. Spanner, Toward an Improved True Threat Doctrine for Student Speakers, 81

N.Y.U. L. Rev. 385, 390-91 (2006).

The Second Circuit developed a specific true threat standard in Kelner, 534 F.2d at 1027.

Rejecting Kelner’s argument that his statements (quoted supra, § II(3)(b)) were protected political

hyperbole under Watts, the Second Circuit held that § 875(c) could only be constitutionally enforced

if “the threat on its face and in the circumstances in which it is made is so unequivocal,

unconditional, immediate and specific as to the person threatened, as to convey a gravity of purpose

and imminent prospect of execution.”  Id.  When a statement has these characteristics, it becomes

“so intertwined with violent action that it has essentially become conduct rather than speech.”

Francis, 164 F.3d at 123.  Determining whether this threshold is met is a question of law for the

court to determine.  Id. at 123 n.4; Kelner, 534 F.2d at 1025.
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 A very useful summary of this distinction is provided in Robert Kurman Kelner, United3

States v. Jake Baker:  Revisiting Threats and the First Amendment, 84 Va. L. Rev. 287 (1998),
an article cited approvingly in footnote 4 of Francis.  The article focuses on how “[c]ourts
sometimes wrongly conflate the objective inquiry as to general intent with the threshold question
as to whether the accused actually made a ‘true threat.’”  Id. at 298-99.  The article locates the
confusion in readings of § 875(c) by other Circuits that require only “a single question:  Would a
reasonable recipient of the communication consider it to be a threat?”  Id. at 299.  According to
the article, “[o]n this reading, the ‘true threat’ doctrine ceases to define a threshold inquiry
. . . and instead is equated with the determination as to general intent.”  Id.  According to the
article, a court should first do a threshold analysis of a potential § 875(c) violation under the
Kelner factors to determine whether a true threat exists as the actus reus of the crime; only then
should a broad contextual inquiry by a jury seek to determine if general intent exists, based on
the reasonable recipient’s response to the communication at issue.  The article points out that this
two-step analysis is preserved in the Second Circuit:  “Since the Second Circuit’s decision in
Kelner, other federal courts of appeals and state supreme courts have set a far lower hurdle for
criminal convictions under Section 875(c).”  Id. at 297.  The Supreme Court has never “resolved
the conflict between the Second Circuit’s . . . construction of the ‘true threat’ doctrine and the
construction advanced by the other circuit courts of appeals.”  Id. at 300.

9

In Francis, the Second Circuit noted that it has used the term “true threat” to refer to two

separate questions that arise in § 875(c) cases:  the threshold question of law as to whether a

statement can be criminalized as a true threat under the Kelner factors; and the analysis of whether

the defendant’s general intent has been proven, which requires a jury to determine whether a

“reasonable recipient familiar with the context of the communication would interpret it as a true

threat of injury.”  Francis, 164 F.3d. at 123 and n.4.3

The defendant here has admitted his intent, so I am solely concerned with whether his

statement meets the true threat threshold established by Kelner.  Even assuming, for the sake of

argument, that the statement—“Remember me?  I’m the guy who spit on you, white boy”—fits

within the definition of an implied threat, I find that it is not a punishable true threat.  The language

does not indicate an imminent prospect of execution; it specifies no action to be executed.  On its

face and in its circumstances (a gap of eight months after the defendant’s last contact with John
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Doe), the statement is equivocal because it could as easily precede an apology as renewed

harassment.  No grave purpose can be identified in the statement.  After close consideration, I find

that the statement does not fall within the Kelner factors that define a true threat.

The government appears to confuse the true threat inquiry into general intent with the

threshold inquiry into whether a statement is a true threat under Kelner.  See February 14th letter at

11-13.  This seems to be why the government reads Malik to mean that the court cannot properly

decide whether the defendant’s statement is a true threat under § 875(c).  Id.  Malik, however,

addresses the general intent inquiry described by Francis—an issue for the jury.  16 F.3d at 49

(referring to the “objective test” for the presence of general intent).  The government’s reading

cannot be correct, especially in the Rule 11 context.  If the court were precluded from deciding

whether the defendant’s statement were a true threat, Rule 11(b)(3) would be invalidated in criminal

threat cases, since the court could not determine if the elements of the crime were present in the

record.  This problem evaporates when the two true threat inquiries described in Francis are kept

distinct.  The court’s Rule 11(b)(3) factual basis inquiry is essentially the same as the Kelner

threshold test, requiring that the communication be “unequivocal, unconditional, immediate and

specific as to the person threatened, as to convey a gravity of purpose and imminent prospect of

execution.”  Kelner, 534 F.2d at 1027.

4. The consequences of rejecting a plea under Rule 11(b)(3)

When a plea of guilty is not accepted because of an inadequate factual basis under Rule

11(b)(3), “the normal consequence . . . would be for the court to set aside the plea and enter a plea

of not guilty.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 11, Notes of Advisory Committee on Rules.

Case 1:08-cr-00066-FB-JMA   Document 25   Filed 03/31/08   Page 10 of 11 PageID #: 149



11

III.  CONCLUSION

Because my careful review of the record, the parties’ submissions, and the case law leads me

to conclude that the charged statement is not a true threat, I find that there is no factual basis

establishing a violation of § 875(c) as alleged in the information.  I therefore respectfully recommend

that the defendant’s plea of guilty be rejected and a plea of not guilty be entered on his behalf by the

court.

Any objections to this report and recommendation must be filed with the Clerk of the Court

within ten days of receipt of this report.  Failure to file objections within the specified time waives

the right to appeal the District Court’s order.  See 28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1) (2000).

SO ORDERED.

Dated: March 31, 2008
Brooklyn, New York

                               /s/                                     
JOAN M. AZRACK
UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE
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